
5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

- ---------- ----- - -

1 

2 

3 

4 

6 

7 

8 

9 

11 

12 

13 

14 

16 

17 

18 

19 

21 

22 

23 

24 

26 

27 

2 8 

UN I TED 

SOUTHERN 

Flt_F D 
t 9 MAY 21 PM 12: 5 4 

STATES DISTRICJ COURT 

DISTRI CT OF CFfLIFORNIA ' 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaint i ff, 

v . 

JOHN TIMOTHY EARNEST, 

Defendant . 

April 2018 Grand Jury l 9CR l B5 OAJB 
Case No . 

I N D j' C T M E N T I ,! 
Title 8 , U. S . C. , Sec . 247(a) (2) , 
2 4 7 { d) {1) , and 2 4 7 ( d) (3) -
Obst ruction of Free Exercise of 
Re l igious Beliefs ; Ti t le 18 , 
U. S.C. , Sec . 249(a) ( 1 ) (B) - Hate 
Cri me Act s; Tit l e 18 , U. S . C., 

. Sec. 247 (a) (1) and 247 (d) (3) -
Attempted Damage to Religious 
Property ; Title 1'8, U. S . C., 
Sec. 924(c) and 924(j) - Using . and 
Carrying a Fi rearm During and I n 
Re l ation to a Crime of Violence ; 
Title 18 , U. S . C. , Sec. 924(d) a nd 
Title 28 , U. S . C. , Sec . 246 l {c} - . 
Cri minal Forfeiture 

The grand jury charges: 

Count 1 

On or about April 27 , 2019 , within the Southern District of 

California, defendant JOHN TI MOTHY EARNEST intentionally obstructed , by 

force , victim L. G-K. in the enjoyment of her free exercise of r eli gious 

beliefs and the offense was i n and affected i nterstate commerce. The 

act s o f defendant JOHN TIMOTHY.EARNEST resulted in the death of L.G- K. 

All in viol ation of Titl e 18 , United St ates Code , Sect ions 247 (a) (2) 

and 2 4 7 ( d} ( 1 } . 

PGK/SPH/CPH:cms(xxx) (1 } : San Diego 
5/21/1 9 
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Counts 2-4 

On or about April 27 , 2019, within the Southern District of 

California , defendant JOHN TIMOTHY EARNEST intentionally obstructed, by 

force and threat of force , each victim listed bel ow i n the enjoyment of 

that victim's free exercise of religiou s beliefs and the offense was in 

and affected interstate commerce . The acts of defendant JOHN TIMOTHY 

EARNEST included an attempt to kill, and resul ted in bodily injury to 

each victim in Counts 2 through 4; the acts also included the use, 

attempted use, and threatened use of a dangerous weapon, to wit, a Smith 

& Wesson Model M&P 15 Sport II semi- automatic rifle, bearing serial 

number ending in 950 . 

Count 

2 

3 

4 

Victim 

Y.G. 

A.P. 

N. D., a juveni le 

All in violation o f Tit l e 18, United States Code, Sections 247(a} (2}, 

247 (d) {1) , and 247 (d) (3). 

Counts 5-54 

On or about April 27 , 2019, within the Southern District of 

Cal ifornia , defendant JOHN T IMOTHY EARNEST intentionally obstructed, by 

force and threat of force, each victim listed below in the enjoyment of 

that victim' s free exercise of religious beliefs and t he offense was in 

and affect ed interstate commerce. The act s of defendant JOHN TIMOTHY 

EARNEST included an attempt to kil l each victim in Counts 5 through 54, 

and the use , attempted use, and threatened use of a dangerous weapon, 

to wit , a Smith & Wesson Model M&P 15 Sport II semi-automat ic rifle, 

bearing serial number endi ng in 950 . 
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Vict i m 

S.A. 

D.A . 

N.A., a juvenile 

y .A., a juvenile 

I.A . 

Count 

J . A. 

Ja . A. 

F .A. 

A.A. 

Z.B . 

J . M. C. 

L. C. 

J .C. 

D. C. 

N. C. 

I.D . 

L . D. , a j uvenil e 

Li.D. , a juvenile 

M.D . 

R . E. , a j uvenile 

T.E. 

p. F . 

G.F. 

S. G. 

C . G ., a j uvenile 

R. G. , a j uvenile 
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Count Victim 

31 Yo . G. , a juvenile 

32 M.G. 

33 Ye.G. 

34 J.H . 

35 R. I. 

36 R. K. 

37 H.K . 

38 Ha.K. 

39 A. L . 

40 A.M . 

41 J .M. 

42 R. P. 

43 G.P . 

44 s. p . 

45 R . S. 

46 H. S . 

47 K. S . 

48 L . S . 

49 A . S ., a j uveni l e 

50 o.s . 

51 K. T . 

52 s . T . I a juvenile 

53 N. T. I a juveni le 

54 A. T. I a juvenile 

2? Al l in violation of Title 18, United States Code , Sections 247(a) (2) , 

. 2 8 2 4 7 ( d) (1) , and 2 4 7 ( d) (3) . 
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Count 55 

On or about April 27, 2019, within the s·outhern District of 

California, defendant JOHN TIMOTHY EARNEST willfully caused bodily 

injury to L.G-K., because of the actual and perceived race of any person . 

The offense resulted in the death of L.G-K. All in violation of 

. Title 18, United Stat es Code, Section 249 (a) (1) (B) (i) . 

Counts 56-58 

On or about April 27 , 2019, within the Southern District of 

California , defendant JOHN TIMOTHY EARNEST willfully caused bodily 

injury to the victims listed bel ow, because of the actual and perceived 

race of any person. Each offense included an attempt to ki ll each victim 

listed in Counts 56 through 58: 

Count Vi ctim 

Y.G. 

A. p . 

56 

57 

58 N.D. 

Al l in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 249 (a} (1) (B} {ii) . 

Counts 59-108 

On or about April 27 , 2019 , in the Southern District of California , 

defendant JOHN TIMOTHY EARNEST , through the use of a firearm, willfully 

attempted to cause bodily injury to each victim listed below, because 

of the actual and perceived race of any person . Each offense included 

an attempt to kill each victim listed in Counts 59 through 108 : 

VictimCount 

S.A.59 

D.A.60 
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Count Victim 

N.A., a juvenile 

y .A., a juvenile 

I.A. 

J.A . 

Ja.A . 

F .A. 

A.A . 

Z.B. 

J.M.C. 

L.C. 

J.C . 

D. C. 

N. C. 

I. D . 

L . D. I a juvenile 

L i . D., a juvenile 

M. D. 

R . E., a juvenile 

T.E. 

P .F. 

G.F . 

S . G. 

C . G. I a juvenile 

R.G., a juvenile 

Yo. G., a juvenile 

M.G. 
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89 

90 

91 
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100 

101 
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103 

104 

105 

106 

107 

108 

Victim 

Ye . G. 

J .H. 

R. I. 

R.K . 

H.K . 

Ha . K. 

A.L . 

A.M . 

J .M. 

R.P. 

G.P . 

S . P . 

R. S . 

H.S . 

K. S. 

L.S .. 

A. S., a j uvenile 

0. S. 

K. T . 

S . T . , a juvenile 

N. T ., a juvenile 

A. T., a juvenile 

All in violation of Title 18, United St ates Code, 

26 Section 249{a) {1} (B) {ii) . 

27 // 

28 // 
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1 Count 109 

2 On or about March 24 , 2019, within the Southern District of 

3 California , defendant JOHN TIMOTHY EARNEST intentionally attempted to 

4 damage and destroy religious real property, that i s, the Dar-ul -Arqam 

Mosque, Escondido, Cali fornia , because of the religious character of 

6 that property, and the offense was in and affected interstate and foreign 

7 commerce . Such acts included the use of fire . All in violation of 

8 Tit l e 18, Uni ted States Code, Sections 247 (a} (1) and 247 (d) (3}. 

9 Count 110 

On or about Apri l 27 , 2019 , within the · Souther n District of 

11 Californi a, defendant JOHN TIMOTHY EARNEST knowingly used, carried, and 

12 discharged a firearm, that is , a Smith & Wesson Model M&P 15 Sport I I 

13 semi-automat ic rifle, bearing serial number ending in 950 , during and 

14 in relation t o a crime of violence for which he may be prosecut ed in a 

court of the United States, that is, the offenses charged in Counts 1 

16 and 55 o f this Indictment; and caused the death of and unlawfully killed 

17 with malice aforethought victim L. G-K., a hwuan being, through the use 

18 of a firearm. All i n violation of Title 18, United States Code , 

19 Sections 924 (c) and 924 ( j ) . 

Counts 111-113 

21 On or about April 27 , 201 9, within t he Southern District of 

22 California, defendant JOHN TIMOTHY EARNEST knowingly used, carried, and 

23 d i scharged a firearm that is, a Smi th & Wesson Model M&P 15 Sport II 

24 semi-automati c rifle , bearing serial number ending in 950, during a nd 

in relation to a crime of violence for which he may be prosecuted in a 

26 court of the United States, that is, the offenses charged in this 

27 Indictment set forth below: 

28 I I 
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Count 

111 

112 

113 

Offense 

Count s 2 a nd 56 

Counts 3 and 57 

Counts 4 and 58 

5 All in violation of Title 18 , United States Code , Section 92 4 (c) . 

6 SPECIAL FINDINGS 

7 For Counts 1 a nd 11 0, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code , 

8 Section 3591 (a) (2 ) (A) - {D), defendant JOHN TIMOTHY EARNEST was over 18 

9 years of age at the time o f the offe n se and : 

10 1 . intent ionally killed the vi ctim, 

11 2 . int entiona l l y infl ict ed serious bodily in jury that resulted i n 

12 the death of the vic tim, 

13 3 . intentionally participated in a n _act , contemplating that t he 

14 life of a person would be taken and i ntending that l ethal force 

1 5 would be used i n connect ion wi th a person, other than one of 

16 the par t icipants i n the offense , a nd the v ictim d i ed as a d i rect 

17 resul t of the act , and 

18 4 . intentionally and speci f ically e ngaged in an act of violence , 

19 knowing that the act crea ted a grave r i sk of death to a person, 

20 other t h an one of the partici pant s in the offense, such that 

21 part i cipat ion in the act cons tit uted a r e c kles s dis r e gard for 

22 human l i fe and t he victim d ied as a di rect result of the act. 

23 For counts 1 and 110 , pursuant to Title 18 , United States Code , 

24 Sections 3592 {c) (5) , {c) (9) , and (c) (16 ) , defendant JOHN TIMOTHY 

25 EARNEST : 

26 1 . in the commission of the offense , knowingly created a g r ave 

27 r i sk of death t o one and mor e persons in addit i on to the vic t im 

28 of the offense , 
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2. committed the offense after substantial pl"anning and 

premeditation to cause the deat h of a person , 

3 . i ntentional l y killed and attempted to kill more than one person 

in a single episode. 

FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS 

1. Counts 1 through 113 are real leged and i ncorporated to al l ege 

forfeiture to the United States of America pursuant to Title 18, United 

States Code, Section 924(d) and Title 28, United States Code, 

Section 2461 (c). 

2. Upon conviction of one or more of the offenses alleged in 

Counts 1 through 113 of this I ndictment , defendant JOHN. TIMOTHY EARNEST 

shal l forfei t t o the United States , pursuant to Title 18, United States 

Code , Section 924(d), and Title 28, United States Cod~, Section 2461(c) , 

all f irearms and ammunit i on involved in the commission of the offenses, 

including, but not limited to, a Smi th & Wesson Model M& P 15 Sport I I 

semi- automatic rifle , bearing serial n umber ending in 950, and 

approximately 50 rounds of .223 ammunition. 

3. I f any of the above-described for feitab l e property, as a result 

of any act or omissi on of the defendant: 1 ) cannot be located upon the 

exercise of due diligence; 2)' has been transferred or sold to , or 

deposited with, a third party; 3) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction 

of the Court; 4) has been substantially diminished in value ; or 5) has 

been commingled with other property which cannot be subdivided without 

difficulty, 

II 

II 

II 

II 
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it is the intent of the Unite d St ates, pursuant to Title 28, United 

States Code, Section 246l(c), which incorporates Title 21, United States 

Code, Section 853(p), to seek forfeiture of a ny othe r property of the 

defendant up to the val ue of the property listed above as being subject 

to forfeiture. 

All in v i olation of Title 18, United States Code , Sections 924 (d) , 

and Title 28 , United States Code , Section 2461(c} . 

DATED : May 21 , 2019 . 

ROBERTS. BREWER, JR. 
Unite d States At t orney 

ERIC S . DREIBAND 
Assistant Attor ney General 
Civil Rights Division 

• D- ~~ BY : ~ -~QAROLINEP. HA 
SHANE P. HARRIGAN 
PETER G. KO 
Assistant U. S. Attorneys 

By: 

U. S . Attorney 
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